RECEIVED

FEB 04 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT DAVIS SMITH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000576

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err in admitting Appellant's statements to police and a photographic line-up identification where law enforcement violated Appellant's rights pursuant to the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by arresting Appellant without probable cause?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 22, 2014, a Greenville County grand jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree, three (3) counts of kidnapping, first degree burglary, first degree assault and battery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in a single indictment (2013-GS-23-7305). R. 272. On March 2, 2016, the state called Appellant's case to trial before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons and a jury. R. 1. The state, represented by Kimberly Howard and Kathryn McCall, elected to proceed only as to three charges: criminal sexual conduct, burglary in the first degree, and possession of a weapon. R. 1; R. 2, ll. 4-9. Randy Chambers represented Appellant. R. 1.

The jury began its deliberations at 4:10 p.m. on March 3, 2016. R. 119; R. 253, ll. 12-13. Shortly thereafter, the jury asked a question pertaining to the testimony of a witness who had testified on March 2, 2016. R. 253, ll. 20-24; R. 271. When the prosecutor suggested that the testimony of the witness be played for the jury, the judge stated the testimony could not be played because he had a different court reporter on March 3, 2016, than he had on March 2, 2016. R. 254, ll. 4-14. In response to the jurors' question, the judge stated:

[L]adies and gentlemen, you have heard the testimony. You have seen the evidence. I know that you are deliberating right now. Your verdict must be based solely upon the evidence received in this courtroom and from the testimony given on that witness stand.

Now, statements said by the attorneys, either in closing or - - in closing statements or opening statements, remember I charged you yesterday, are not evidence. Only what's from the witness stand.

So your duty - - do you remember, that's why I told you to listen very carefully because you are not allowed to take notes, so you have to go by your recollections of the trial and discuss it that way in your deliberations, okay? So go on back to deliberate.

R. 255, l. 24 – R. 256, l. 13. At 6:16 p.m., the judge informed the jurors that the hour was “getting late,” and he had “to drive back to Chester.” R. 256, l. 22 – R. 257, l. 2. He stated, “rather than just keep [the jury] here late late into the evening,” he was going to excuse them for the evening. R. 257, ll. 2-6. He instructed the jurors to return the following morning at 9:30 a.m. R. 257, ll. 7-16.

The following day, the jury reached its verdicts, finding Appellant guilty of criminal sexual conduct, and not guilty of burglary in the first degree and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 258; R. 259 10-21. The judge sentenced Appellant to twenty-three years’ imprisonment. R. 266, ll. 8-10; R. 275.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in admitting Appellant's statements to police and a photographic line-up identification where law enforcement violated Appellant's rights pursuant to the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by arresting Appellant without probable cause.

### **Relevant facts**

#### *Pre-trial hearing & ruling*

In a motel room where the complaining witness claimed she was sexually assaulted, the police collected a cell phone. R. 15, ll. 23-25. On June 18, 2013, Investigator Timothy Conroy had the recovered phone in his possession. R. 16, ll. 3-5. Someone called the phone, and Conroy answered it. R. 16, ll. 1-7. The person who called the phone claimed ownership of the phone in Conroy's possession. R. 16, ll. 1-2. Conroy set up a meeting ostensibly to return the phone. R. 16, ll. 8-9. Shortly after the phone call, Conroy arrived at Labor Place, Appellant's place of employment. R. 6, ll. 11-17; R. 15, ll. 7-10; R. 16, ll. 10-13. Conroy handcuffed Appellant while Appellant was still on the street, placed Appellant in a patrol car, and transported Appellant to the interrogation room in the Greenville Police Department. R. 6, ll. 13-17; R. 16, ll. 18-22 (Conroy explaining that he took Appellant into custody); R. 17, ll. 2-5. Conroy did not tell Appellant that he was the subject of an investigation. R. 16, ll. 14-17; R. 17, ll. 6-11. Conroy only told Appellant he "was investigating a crime." R. 17, ll. 6-7.

Conroy explained he believed "[t]here was enough probable cause to ... effect an arrest at that point." R. 17, ll. 17-20. However, he did not obtain an arrest warrant. R. 17, ll. 121-22. According to Conroy he was not arresting Appellant; rather, he was taking Appellant "into investigative detention to speak with him." R. 18, ll. 1-2. Although Conroy believed he had

probable cause to arrest Appellant at that point, he “wanted to interview him prior to getting that arrest warrant.” R. 18, ll. 8-11. Conroy persisted that he thought “the elements of the crime would have enabled [him] to make an arrest at that point,” but he asserted he “did not have time to go get a search [*sic*] warrant.” R. 19, ll. 2-4. Conroy noted that he was familiar with the procedure to obtain an arrest warrant and of the requirement to obtain such a warrant upon sufficient information to support an arrest. R. 19, ll. 5-8. Despite earlier protestations, Conroy appeared to concede the illegality of the seizure during cross-examination. R. 19, ll. 9-11.

In the interrogation room, Conroy handcuffed Appellant to the chair. R. 6, ll. 22-24; R. 19, ll. 12-14; State’s Exhibit #9. However, Conroy claimed that Appellant was not under arrest; rather, “[h]e was not free to go, he was in investigative detention.” R. 6, l. 25 – R. 7, l. 2. Conroy still did not tell Appellant why he had “detained” him because he “wanted the element of surprise to see what [Appellant] would tell” Conroy. R. 19, ll. 15-18. Conroy told Appellant he wanted to talk about “something” and at a later point said he wanted to talk about “stuff.” State’s Exhibit #9 at 00:14; 4:14; 4:35.

Conroy then pulled out a form with the advisement of rights written on it. Conroy gathered some personal information from Appellant, which he wrote onto the form. R. 7, ll. 6-10; R. 269. He then asked Appellant to read the first line of the form to confirm he could read. R. 7, ll. 10-12. Conroy asked Appellant if he wanted Conroy to read the rest of the form to him or if he wanted to read the form without Conway’s assistance. R. 7, ll. 11-14. According to Conroy, Appellant elected to read the form to himself. R. 7, ll. 14-16; R. 19, ll. 19-21. During the pre-trial hearing, Conroy knew the form “was a waiver of his rights,” but he did not “know exactly verbatim what it said.” R. 7, ll. 17-19. Thereafter, Conroy interrogated Appellant for approximately three hours, which was captured on video. R. 10, ll. 7-9; R. 11, ll. 19-22; State’s

Exhibit #9.<sup>1</sup> In addition, Conroy obtained a written statement from Appellant, which Conroy typed. R. 13, ll. 8-9; R. 14, ll. 3-5 R. 267.

Defense counsel objected to the introduction of the statement as the fruit of an illegal arrest. R. 21, ll. 9-13. He noted the police never informed Appellant why the police wanted to talk to him, why he was being placed in handcuffs, or why he was being transported to the police department. R. 21, ll. 13-15. Defense counsel explained that if the officer believed he had sufficient evidence for probable cause for an arrest, as he claimed, then the proper course of action was to obtain an arrest warrant. R. 21, ll. 15-18. The police made “a warrantless arrest without advising” Appellant as to why he was being placed into custody, transferred to the police station, and handcuffed to a chair. R. 21, ll. 19-22. Appellant was seized – illegally. R. 21, ll. 22-23. This was not a matter of investigative detention, particularly when the police removed him from the area and took him to the law enforcement center. R. 23, ll. 17-21. Defense counsel argued for the suppression of all evidence flowing from that illegal seizure, including Appellant’s statement to law enforcement and the photo line-up. R. 21, ll. 22-25; R. 22, ll. 8-11; R. 24, l. 24 – R. 25, l. 4.

The solicitor argued Appellant was not illegally seized because “at no time did [Appellant] say he would not go with them, put up any kind of [f]ight or struggle,” which the solicitor admitted was not required. R. 22, ll. 13-16. Nevertheless, the solicitor continued with this argument – “through the entire exchange ... he expressed no desire to not go with them, to not be a part of that investigation, and to cease it.” R. 22, ll. 16-19; R. 24, ll. 12-19 (the solicitor

---

<sup>1</sup> The DVD contains two files. The first file shows the first 1.5 hours of the interrogation, and the second file shows the second 1.5 hours of the interrogation. In light of the fact that there are two files, the times on the video start over at 00:00 for the second 1.5 hours. To denote the second portion of the video Appellant will use the following: State’s Exhibit #9 at (2) followed by the time.

reiterating that Appellant “did not ask to stop the conversation” and that during the interrogation Appellant never said he did not want to speak to police or wanted a lawyer). According to the solicitor it was “general practice to secure the situation and for officer safety they had to have him handcuffed.” R. 22, ll. 20-23. The solicitor argued that “investigative detention is firm in case law, it is allowed, it is a practice that is used by law enforcement.” R. 24, ll. 10-12.

The judge denied Appellant’s motion to suppress the statement and photo line-up as flowing from an illegal arrest:

After reviewing the law and considering the testimony and evidence presented the defendant’s motion to suppress is denied. I find the statement, it was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently made and therefore is admissible. I also deny the motion to suppress concerning the photo [line-up].

R. 25, ll. 16-23.

### *Trial*

On July 17, 2013, Melissa Fortner Pope, her boyfriend, Walter Pope, and their two children were living in a motel room at the Regal Inn. R. 48, l. 8 – R. 49, l. 21. During the morning, she was “[s]tripping the beds, putting stuff outside, getting ready for the maid to come pick up the stuff and then waiting on her to come back.” R. 49, l. 17 – R. 50, l. 6. A man stopped by her room and asked for someone named Mike Mike or Mookie. R. 50, ll. 10-14; R. 68, l. 17 – R. 69, l. 20. When she informed the man that she did not know who that was, the man walked away. R. 50, ll. 14-15. She returned to her cleaning. R. 50, ll. 20-22.

Shortly thereafter, the man re-appeared, but this time in her room. R. 51, ll. 1-5. Also, she claimed the man had a box cutter in his left hand. R. 51, ll. 6-7; R. 71, ll. 14-17. According to the complaining witness, the man told her “to be quiet,” closed the door, put the box cutter

closer to her, and told her “to get on the bed.” R. 51, ll. 8-11.<sup>2</sup> She was “pushed onto the bed” and began fighting the man “from about the middle of the bed” until the pair fell onto the floor. R. 51, ll. 17-21. She was unable to say if he had the box cutter when the two fell to the floor. R. 74, ll. 9-14; R. 75, ll. 3-12. However, she claimed she continued to fight until she was choked to the point of barely able to breathe. R. 51, ll. 22-23. During the fight, she was “kicking” waving her arms, and “probably” yelling. R. 73, ll. 7-22.

Somehow, the man managed to pull his pants down, and move “her panties and stuff” to the side. R. 74, l. 21 – R. 75, l. 2. The complaining witness alleged the man penetrated her with his penis on the floor in her “vaginal area.” R. 52, ll. 9-24; R. 63, ll. 1-3. This lasted “[m]oments.” R. 52, ll. 15-16. The man did not ejaculate and did not wear a condom. R. 52, ll. 17-20. Oddly, the man did not get an erection, but somehow managed to penetrate her. R. 75, ll. 13-21. When she saw the man leave, she locked the motel door. R. 53, ll. 2-5. She claimed she later realized the man took money, which was on top of the television. R. 54, l. 23 – R. 55, l. 7. The complaining witness then called 911. R. 55, ll. 23-24. Next, she called Jim Sawyer, the manager at Labor Smart, where her boyfriend worked. R. 56, ll. 4-13.

Conroy told the jurors that police found a cell phone located in between the two beds in the hotel room that did not belong to the complaining witness or her fiancé. R. 148, ll. 8-12. The forensics team swabbed the phone for DNA. R. 149, ll. 12-14. Then, the phone was turned over to Conroy. R. 149, ll. 14-15. Ultimately, the police recovered no fingerprints or DNA from the phone. R. 149, ll. 16-18. Conroy gave the phone to the police analyst, but the analyst could not “break the password and download it from the data.” R. 149, l. 19 – R. 150, l. 3. In light of this setback, Conroy used the phone to call 911 “to get the phone number.” R. 150, ll. 4-6. He

---

<sup>2</sup> The complaining witness also testified that the man shut the door prior to producing the box cutter. R. 70, ll. 21-25.

then determined the phone service was provided by Verizon. R. 150, l. 8. Conroy prepared a search warrant for Verizon “and emailed [it] to them to find out if the phone had a subscriber.” R. 150, ll. 9-10. He was unable to find out the subscriber information, however. R. 150, ll. 11-12.

Conroy told the jurors how the phone rang and he answered it. R. 150, ll. 15-16. He told the caller that he had found the phone, and the caller stated he had lost his phone. R. 150, ll. 16-18. The two arranged to meet so that Conroy could return to phone to the caller. R. 150, ll. 18-19. Conroy and another detective drove to the designated meeting spot, where they watched the location “for about five minutes.” R. 152, ll. 3-4. As Conroy and the other detective approached the location, Appellant met them outside. R. 152, ll. 6-7. Conroy immediately called for a uniform officer to assist because he had decided to “detain” Appellant. R. 152, ll. 15-20. Conroy handcuffed Appellant and put him in the patrol car. R. 152, ll. 20-22. Appellant was transported to the police department and placed in an interrogation room. R. 154, ll. 9-12. When the solicitor offered evidence of the interrogation, defense counsel renewed his objection, which was overruled. R. 159, ll. 9-12. Additionally, when the solicitor offered evidence of the photo line-up, defense counsel renewed his earlier objection, which was overruled. R. 161, ll. 16-21.

Conroy agreed with defense counsel that a police officer must “have a purpose to detain somebody.” R. 169, ll. 18-23. He agreed he would need “some sort of legal authority to physically detain somebody.” R. 170, ll. 18-20. He agreed that an individual does not have to cooperate with police questioning, including giving an officer the individual’s name. R. 169, l. 24 – R. 170, l. 5. Conroy agreed that a person has the right to refuse to go to the police station with an officer. R. 170, ll. 6-8. However, Conroy stated he did not “believe” an officer was required to tell a person why the person was being detained. R. 170, ll. 9-11. Conroy explained

that the police can arrest someone without a warrant when the police “actually witnessed” the commission of a crime. R. 171, ll. 2-7. While Conroy agreed that if the police do not witness a crime, then the police must obtain an arrest warrant, he maintained that the police may detain someone if the person is “a danger to society.” R. 171, ll. 8-10. This was called “investigative detention” and was temporary in nature. R. 171, ll. 11-16.

Defense counsel continued to prod:

Q. But you can't just take them into custody and carry them off and hold them for some long period of time. That's not an investigative detention?

A. If you are continuously speaking with them and they never object.

Q. So, in other words, in your mind they have to raise - - they have to know enough to raise some sort of objection?

A. An objection, as well as if the investigator officer had no evidence of any sort and not enough probable cause to sign a warrant.

Q. So it's your position then that just having probable - - what you view as probable cause without presenting it to a neutral and detached magistrate gives you authority to just indefinitely detain someone?

A. Not indefinitely, no, sir.

R. 171, l. 23 – R. 172, l. 12. Conroy persisted that he did not place Appellant under arrest during their encounter on the street; rather, he placed Appellant in “[i]nvestigative detention.” R. 175, ll. 18-20. Conroy claimed that when he placed Appellant in handcuffs, Appellant asked “what it was for.” R. 176, ll. 8-13. Conroy “advised” he wanted to speak with Appellant “about something that occurred yesterday.” R. 176, ll. 13-16. However, Conroy “never told [Appellant] until almost an hour or so into [the interrogation] what it was [Conroy} suspected him of doing.” R. 177, l. 25 – R. 178, l. 2; R. 179, ll. 17-23.

## Discussion

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend IV. “No right is held more sacred, or is more carefully guarded, by the common law, than the right of every individual to the possession and control of his own person, free from all restraint or interference of others, unless by clear and unquestionable authority of law.” Union Pacific Ry. Co. v. Botsford, 141 U.S. 250, 251 (1891). “Generally, police seizures are *per se* unreasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment unless such seizures are accomplished pursuant to judicial warrants issued upon probable cause.” State v. Rodriguez, 323 S.C. 484, 490, 476 S.E.2d 161, 165 (Ct. App. 1996). “[T]he police must, whenever practicable, obtain advance judicial approval of searches and seizures through the warrant procedure.” Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 20 (1968).

“The Fourth Amendment applies to all seizures of a person, including only a brief detention.” State v. Anderson, 415 S.C. 441, 447, 786 S.E.2d 51, 54 (2016); see also Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438, 440 (1980). “A person has been ‘seized’ within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment ‘whenever a police officer accosts [the] individual and restrains his freedom to walk away.’” Rodriguez, 323 S.C. at 491, 476 S.E.2d at 165 (quoting Terry, 392 U.S. at 16). “Only when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a ‘seizure’ has occurred.” Terry, 392 U.S. at 19 n. 16; see also United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 553 (1980).

“In determining whether an encounter between a law enforcement official and a citizen constitutes a seizure, and thereby implicates Fourth Amendment protection, the correct inquiry is whether, considering all of the circumstances surrounding the encounter, a reasonable person

would have believed he was not free to leave.” Rodriguez, 323 S.C. at 491, 476 S.E.2d at 165; see also State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 545, 544 S.E.2d 290, 294 (Ct. App. 2001).

The test we apply in determining whether a person has been seized for purposes of the Fourth Amendment is whether, under the totality of the circumstances surrounding the encounter, a reasonable person in the suspect’s position “would have felt free to decline the officers’ requests or otherwise terminate the encounter.”

United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d 126, 132 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998)(quoting Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 438 (1991)). In Mendenhall, the Court provided some “[e]xamples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure, even where the person did not attempt to leave”: “the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer’s request might be compelled.” Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554.

#### *Investigative detention*

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