RECEIVED

FEB 04 2013

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000576

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT DAVIS SMITH, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly denied defense counsel's motion to suppress the incriminating evidence discovered as a result of Appellant's arrest because the arresting officer had a probable cause basis to believe Appellant had sexually assaulted the victim prior to taking him into custody in light of the fact the injured victim reported she was sexually assaulted, Appellant fully matched the physical description of the victim's assailant, Appellant was located in close proximity to the scene of the crime, and Appellant claimed ownership of a cell phone that was found in the victim's motel room shortly after the sexual assault was committed.

Appellant contends the trial judge committed reversible error by admitting into evidence an incriminating statement Appellant made after he was taken into custody along with a photographic lineup in which Appellant was identified as the perpetrator of the sexual assault. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains he was unconstitutionally arrested without probable cause and, thus, all the evidence discovered as a result of the illegal arrest had to be suppressed during trial.³ To the contrary, the circumstances known to the officer at the time Appellant was taken into custody established a fair probability a sexual assault had been committed and Appellant was the person who had committed it. Specifically, Detective Conroy

³ Notably, defense counsel did not specifically argue Appellant's arrest was not supported by probable cause as Appellant is now arguing on appeal. (R. pp. 21-25). Instead, defense counsel contended to the trial judge Appellant's arrest was illegal based on the fact Detective Conroy did not obtain an arrest warrant, and he repeatedly asked questions of Detective Conroy suggesting he mistakenly believed an arrest warrant was necessary in order for an arrest to be legitimate if an officer did not actually witness a criminal offense. (R. pp. 18-19; pp. 21-24; pp. 170-172). Moreover, defense counsel even incorrectly suggested to the trial judge – based on his understanding – there was no authority in existence that permitted an investigative detention for any purpose other than securing a scene until a warrant could be obtained. (R. p. 23). Therefore, because defense counsel did not raise the particular argument Appellant is now raising on appeal, Appellant's appellate argument is not properly preserved for appellate and cannot properly be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. See State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”); State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (instructing a party cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue to the appellate court); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”); see also In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”); cf. State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 156-157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000) (finding Benton's appellate challenge to the trial judge's refusal to give a requested charge was not preserved for appellate review where Benton “argued one ground in support of a circumstantial evidence charge at trial (State only presented circumstantial evidence of intent) and argues another ground in support of the charge on appeal (palm print is circumstantial evidence).”).

was aware Victim had reported she had been sexually assaulted, Victim had suffered injuries to her neck and vagina, Appellant fully matched the physical description of Victim's assailant, Appellant's place of employment was located in close proximity to the scene of the sexual assault, and Appellant was claiming ownership of a cell phone that was found in Victim's motel room after the incident. Under those circumstances, Appellant's arrest was both supported by probable cause and constitutionally reasonable, and the trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In search and seizure cases, an appellate court in South Carolina is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) ("[W]e will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling."). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence supporting the ruling. See State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 251, 781 S.E.2d 897, 900 (2016) ("[A]ppellate courts must affirm if there is any evidence to support the trial court's ruling."); State v. Morris, 411 S.C. 571, 578, 769 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2015) (" 'When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.' " (citation omitted)). Critically, the appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a

different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009); see Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. at 70, 572 S.E.2d at 459 (“In State v. Brockman, . . . [w]e concluded the appellate court would not review the trial judge’s ultimate determination de novo but, rather, would apply a deferential standard of review.”).

ANALYSIS

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV; see also Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”). Importantly, that constitutional provision is designed “to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals.” United States v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543, 554 (1976). For Fourth Amendment purposes, a search occurs when “an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed.” United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984). Likewise, a seizure occurs when there is some meaningful interference with an individual’s possessory interest in property or with the individual’s freedom of movement. Id.; see Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 16, n. 16 (1968) (“Only when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a ‘seizure’ has occurred.”).

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, a law enforcement officer may approach a citizen in an effort to speak with or question that citizen without implicating the Fourth Amendment so long as a reasonable person under the same circumstances would feel free to disregard the officer and leave if he or she chose to do so. Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991). Significantly, engaging in a consensual encounter generally does not implicate or violate any

constitutional rights. State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 100, 23 S.E.2d 840, 848-849 (Ct. App. 2005); see State v. Culbreath, 300 S.C. 232, 237, 387 S.E.2d 255, 257 (1990) ("Not all personal encounters between policemen and citizens involve 'seizures' of persons thereby bringing the Fourth Amendment into play."), abrogated on other grounds by Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 198 (1990).

Beyond a purely consensual encounter, a law enforcement officer who possesses reasonable articulable suspicion a citizen is involved in criminal activity may conduct a brief, non-consensual stop and detention of that citizen for investigative purposes. State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 248, 525 S.E.2d 535, 539 (Ct. App. 1999); see State v. Robinson, 306 S.C. 399, 402, 412 S.E.2d 411, 413 (1991) ("To justify a brief stop and detention, the police officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the person has been involved in criminal activity."); State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977) ("It is recognized that the police may briefly detain and question a person upon a reasonable suspicion, short of probable cause for arrest, that he is involved in criminal activity."); see also United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) ("[T]he police can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity 'may be afoot,' even if the officer lacks probable cause." (citation omitted)). Importantly though, such an investigative detention must remain brief and limited unless the officer's suspicions are confirmed or further aroused, which may justify a more prolonged and expanded detention. State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 546, 544 S.E.2d 290, 295 (Ct. App. 2001).

However, when a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe a citizen has committed a felony, the officer may fully take custody of and arrest that citizen even without possessing a valid arrest warrant. State v. Thompson, 304 S.C. 85, 87, 403 S.E.2d 139, 140 (Ct.

App. 1991); see State v. Roper, 274 S.C. 14, 17, 260 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1979) (“A police officer has probable cause to arrest without a warrant where he, ‘in good faith, believes that a person is guilty of a felony, and his belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious man, under the circumstances, to believe likewise’ ” (citation omitted)). For constitutional purposes, a citizen has been seized – and, thus, arrested unless only subjected to a brief investigatory detention – when a reasonable person under the circumstances would not believe he or she was free to leave. See State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 503, 697 S.E.2d 593, 596 (2010) (recognizing there is a difference between an arrest for statutory purposes and constitutional purposes, noting an arrest is the highest form of a constitutional seizure, and stating a constitutional seizure occurs when a reasonable person under the circumstances would not believe he or she was free to leave); see also United States v. Elston, 479 F.3d 314, 319 (4th Cir. 2007) (“We have expressly recognized that ‘the perception that one is not free to leave is insufficient to convert a Terry stop into an arrest. A brief but complete restraint of liberty is valid under Terry.’ ” (citations omitted)); United States v. Berry, 670 F.2d 583, 591 (5th Cir. 1982) (“Supreme Court holdings sculpt out, at least theoretically, three tiers of police-citizen encounters: communication between police and citizens involving no coercion or detention and therefore without the compass of the Fourth Amendment, brief ‘seizures’ that must be supported by reasonable suspicion, and full-scale arrests that must be supported by probable cause.”). Critically, so long as such an arrest is supported by probable cause, it is ordinarily considered to be constitutionally reasonable. See Riley v. California, ___ U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2484 (2014) (recognizing “a ‘custodial arrest of a suspect based on probable cause is a reasonable intrusion under the Fourth Amendment’ ” (citation omitted)); see also United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411, 423-424 (1976) (“Law enforcement officers may find it wise to seek arrest warrants where

practicable to do so, and their judgments about probable cause may be more readily accepted where backed by a warrant issued by a magistrate. But we decline to transform this judicial preference into a constitutional rule when the judgment of the Nation and Congress has for so long been to authorize warrantless public arrests on probable cause rather than to encumber criminal prosecutions with endless litigation with respect to the existence of exigent circumstances, whether it was practicable to get a warrant, whether the suspect was about to flee, and the like.” (citations omitted)).

In determining the lawfulness of an arrest, the fundamental issue is simply whether there was probable cause to make one. State v. Cuevas, 365 S.C. 198, 203, 616 S.E.2d 718, 721 (Ct. App. 2005). “Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances, to believe likewise.” Wortman v. City of Spartanburg, 310 S.C. 1, 4, 425 S.E.2d 18, 20 (1992). Significantly, the probable cause standard merely requires the facts and circumstances available to the officer at the time of the arrest to be such that would warrant a reasonably cautious person in the same situation to believe an offense has been committed and the person detained committed it. In re Care and Treatment of Brown v. State, 372 S.C. 611, 619-620, 643 S.E.2d 118, 122 (Ct. App. 2007). Importantly, the probable cause standard does not demand any showing the officer’s belief was correct or more likely true than false. Texas v. Brown, 460 U.S. 730, 742 (1983); see Garcia v. County of Merced, 639 F.3d 1206, 1209 (9th Cir. 2011) (“For information to amount to probable cause, it does not have to be conclusive of guilt, and it does not have to exclude the possibility of innocence[.] . . . [P]olice are not required ‘to believe to an absolute certainty, or by clear and convincing evidence, or even by a preponderance of the available evidence’ that a suspect has committed a crime. All that is

required is a 'fair probability,' given the totality of the evidence, that such is the case." (citations omitted)). Instead, it is a flexible, common-sense standard not requiring absolute certainty or the complete exclusion of some alternative possibility of innocence. See Brown, 460 U.S. at 741 ("[P]robable cause is a flexible, common-sense standard."); Brown, 372 S.C. at 619, 643 S.E.2d at 122 ("The very term itself, 'probable cause,' does not import absolute certainty."); cf. United States v. Sanchez, 689 F.2d 508, 515-516 (5th Cir. 1982) ("[O]ur ultimate inquiry is not whether there is some hypothesis of the yellow truck's 'innocence' which is reasonably consistent with the circumstances shown, for such an analysis is more appropriate to the 'beyond a reasonable doubt' standard used on the merits. Here, we are dealing with 'probable cause,' which requires 'far less evidence[.]' All that is required is a showing of 'facts and circumstances (that) would lead a reasonably prudent man to believe that the vehicle contain(ed) contraband.'" (citations omitted)).

In the case sub judice, Detective Conroy took Appellant into custody shortly after encountering him, placed him in handcuffs, transported him to the police department in a police vehicle, and interviewed him for several hours. Unquestionably, Appellant was not free to leave during that encounter unless and until he was released from law enforcement custody by the detective. See Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 254 (2007) (recognizing a person is "seized" for constitutional purposes whenever an officer terminates or restrains the person's freedom of movement through means intentionally applied). Under those circumstances, Appellant was seized and arrested for constitutional purposes regardless of how the seizure was characterized or labeled at the time it was initiated. See Dunaway v. New York, 442 U.S. 200, 212 (1979) (concluding probable cause was necessary to involuntarily transport Dunaway to a police department in a police vehicle and place him in an interrogation room); see also Brighton

City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 404 (2006) (“An action is ‘reasonable’ under the Fourth Amendment, regardless of the individual officer’s state of mind, ‘as long as the circumstances, viewed *objectively*, justify [the] action.’ The officer’s subjective motivation is irrelevant.” (citations omitted and brackets in original)); State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 108, 747 S.E.2d 453, 458 (2013) (recognizing an “officer’s subjective motivations are irrelevant” when determining the constitutionality of a seizure).

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